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Gaming Market Study 
Question and Answer Summary 
Issued:  July 16, 2019 
 
Q.1:    What is the anticipated budget for this work? 
 
A.1: While there is no formal budget established for this procurement, we 

expect the engagement not to exceed $1.5 million, inclusive of data 
acquisition, travel and all other miscellaneous expenses. 

 
Q.2: What information will be available regarding VLT, OTB, Casino, and Indian casino 

revenues and operating information?  Will historical time series data be 
available? Will this information be supplied to contractor? 

 
A.2:  The Commission posts various gaming financial data on its website, 

including weekly revenue figures for each video lottery gaming facility 
and commercial casino since commencement of operations.  The 
Commission will work with the Successful Bidder to fulfill additional 
non-public data requests based on our access to such material. 

 
Q.3:    Is information available regarding patron residence for each location?  
 
A.3:   The Commission does not maintain such data. 
 
Q.4:   The RFP requires specific expertise in real estate and hospitality/tourism, but this 

is not explicitly spelled out in the scope.  We have significant experience in this 
regard and can make some assumptions for the scope; however, so that we can 
optimally customize our scope and address your objectives, please provide how 
you specifically think real estate and hospitality/tourism experience will be 
deployed across this project.  

 
A.4: The scope of work asks for analysis of the various economic, 

demographic, tourism, and other commercial factors impacting the 
New York State gaming industry. In addition, the scope seeks analysis 
of the economic, fiscal and social implications of awarding three 
additional commercial casino licenses.  

 
We believe the gaming industry’s success is intertwined with tourism 
and lodging dynamics. In addition, the selection of the location for a 
new commercial casino-as well as the health of the surrounding real 
estate market-is critical to the success of the new operation; therefore, 
in a more holistic sense, we expect the Successful Bidder to possess 
experience and understanding as to how the various tourism, 



3 
 

hospitality and real estate dynamics educate the analysis required by 
the scope of this RFP. 

 
Q.5:  Will we have access to data/info from other state entities related to real 

state/hospitality/tourism? 
 
A.5: The Commission will strive and collaboratively work with the 

Successful Bidder to expeditiously acquire any relevant non-
proprietary data that reside with other State entities.  

 
Q.6:   What is the level of confidentiality related to the project and its purpose, with 

respect to our outreach to and discussions with key stakeholders? 
 
A.6: Each of the key stakeholders of the State gaming industry are 

cognizant of this public procurement.  Their participation with the 
Successful Bidder will be determined by each licensed or franchised 
facility.   

 
 It should be expected that the final product will be a public document, 

with portions thereof subject to the applicable restrictive provisions of 
the Freedom of Information Law.  Additionally, access to records 
provided to or used by the Successful Bidder, if maintained in State 
custody, will also be subject to applicable restrictive provisions of the 
Freedom of Information Law. 

 
Q.7: Will we have access to casino operators’ customer databases, i.e. loyalty and 

customer relationship management systems, e.g. Players’ Club?  
 
A.7:   The Commission does not maintain such data. 
 

The access to such materials from the State gaming industry’s key 
stakeholders will be determined by each licensed or franchised facility.   

 
Q.8:   Will we have access to prior casino/gaming feasibility studies prepared for the 

State of New York? 
 
A.8:  To the extent any such studies have been maintained, yes. 
 
Q.9:    Is there a required form or document related to the Litigation Bond?  
 
A.9:    No. 
 
Q.10:  RFP Section 1.25 states “All required bonds must be written by a company with a 

rating of “A-” or better by A.M. Best & Co., have a record of successful 
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continuous operation, are licensed, admitted, and authorized to do business in 
the State of New York, and are approved by the Commission.”  Where do we 
locate the listing of litigation bond issuing companies who “are approved by the 
Commission?”  

  
A.10:  The Commission will post such listing in the near future. 
 
Q.11:  RFP Section 1.3 states the bidder should possess expertise in “Lodging (e.g., 

operational and financial analysis)” and “Real Estate (e.g., market assessment).” 
However, none of tasks in RFP Section 3.2 addresses these two aspects. Can you 
provide the relevance and expectations regarding these two aspects? 

 
A.11:  Please see response to Question 4, above.  
 

We anticipate that expertise in the Lodging and Real Estate Industries 
would inform the Successful Bidder’s analysis of any potential 
economic impact of new casino development, e.g., a mature lodging 
market in a specific area will allow for a larger economic multiplier in a 
shorter time frame, etc.  

 
RFP Section 1.3 provides that a bidder should “meet some or all of the 
preferred qualifications listed below.” Accordingly, a lack of specific 
experience will not automatically disqualify a bid.  

 
Q.12:  RFP Appendix L requires the Contractor to submit a SDVOB Utilization Plan on 

Form SDVOB.  Where can we locate a copy of this form? 
 

A.12:  All Division of Service-Disabled Veterans' Business Development 
Compliance and Reporting forms can be located at: 
https://ogs.ny.gov/veterans/division-service-disabled-veterans-
business-development-compliance-and-reporting.  

 
The waiver form is attached as RFP Appendix L-1. 
 

Q.13:  RFP Appendix L provides that prior to submission of a request for a partial or 
total waiver of the requirement for meaningful participation by SDVOBs, the 
Bidder/Contractor shall speak to the Commission for guidance.  Is there contact 
information for the person to whom the Bidder/Contractor should speak? 
 

A.13: Bidders should explicitly indicate within their proposal if they 
reasonably anticipate requesting a waiver. The Commission’s MWBE 
Compliance Officer will contact a tentative awardee for discussion.  A 
waiver determination cannot be undertaken until the contents of a 
proposal have been reviewed. 

https://ogs.ny.gov/veterans/division-service-disabled-veterans-business-development-compliance-and-reporting
https://ogs.ny.gov/veterans/division-service-disabled-veterans-business-development-compliance-and-reporting
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Q.14:  RFP Section 3.1 states “Such services will include, but not be limited to, an 

assessment on the potential market in downstate and provide a valuation as to 
the appropriate license fee, tax structure and construction requirement for one 
(1) , two (2) or all three (3) downstate facilities”. However, none of the tasks in 
RFP Section 3.2 address construction requirements. Can you provide the 
relevance and expectations regarding this aspect?  

 
A.14: The RFP inquiry seeks an analysis of the optimal minimum capital 

investment for the downstate facilities. The reference to construction 
regards such facility or facilities development. 

 
Q.15:  Will the Commission provide the data required for State gaming revenues which 

it possesses? 
 

A.15:  Please see response to Question A.2. 
 

Q.16: RFP Section 3.2A.2 seeks “An analysis of the performance of commercial casinos, 
video lottery gaming facilities, the state lottery for education, and Native 
American gaming facilities, including … Actual performance vs. market potential, 
and if applicable, reasons for deviation”.  

 
In terms of actual versus market potential, is the market potential referenced 
expected to be based upon an economic model that is region specific for the 
current gaming markets?  Also, is the market potential referenced here inclusive 
of the effects of RFP Section 3.2C. or is it with/without analysis? 

 
A.16: With respect to the former question, the Successful Bidder is expected 

to model current market conditions to evaluate how actual 
performance compared with the modeled expectation. 

 
With respect to the latter question, the market potential does not 
include the effects of 3.2C. 

 
Q.17:  RFP Section 3.2A.4 seeks “An analysis of the performance of commercial casinos, 

video lottery gaming facilities, the state lottery for education, and Native 
American gaming facilities, including … External factors impacting the New York 
gaming market, including changes in status in neighboring states”. 

 
Would this be limited to current gaming legislation and potential impacts versus 
speculative in nature, is this acceptable? 

 
A.17: A bidder should undertake analysis premised on the State’s current 

gaming laws unless otherwise indicated within the RFP. Relative to 
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changes in neighboring states, a bidder is free to incorporate any 
reasonable speculative scenario. 

 
Q.18:  RFP Section 3.2B seeks “A review of relevant economic, demographic, tourism 

(domestic and international), and other commercial factors that impact or may 
impact the gaming industry in New York”.  
 

Will the State provide access to data for this and other such analysis or will the 
contractor be expected to acquire such data within the proposed budget? 

 
A.18: A Successful Bidder will be expected to make relevant data purchases; 

however, the State will provide all currently available non-proprietary 
or other relevant data not protected by non-disclosure agreements. 

 
Q.19: RFP Section 3.2C seeks “An understanding of the size and scope of the potential 

market, including economic, social and fiscal implications; Analysis of potential 
gross gaming revenue scenarios based on specific siting locations; Examination 
of the impact downstate legalization would have on the existing gaming industry 
in New York and neighboring states; Potential impact on any downstate 
development should full-scale casino gambling be authorized elsewhere in the 
region; and Evaluation of optimal taxation rates and license fees”. 

 
Please confirm whether specific siting locations will be provided? Will the 
assumption of investment size and overall scope of the facilities be provided or 
will that assumption be made by the winning bidder? 

 
A.19:  An objective of the State is to ensure the greatest reasonable benefit 

from the unawarded commercial casino licenses. Potential license site 
locations, and the size and scope of potential facilities, shall be made 
by the Successful Bidder, however the Commission will work with the 
Successful Bidder to narrow the range of scenarios prior to analysis. 

 
Q.20:  Will the Commission provide the locations of the three (3) additional gaming 

locations, as this will dramatically impact the results of the model. 
 
A.20: Please see response to Question A.19.   
 
Q.21:  RFP Section 3.2C.4 seeks inclusion of: “Potential impact on any downstate 

development should full-scale casino gambling be authorized elsewhere in the 
region” as part of the analysis.  

 
Can you confirm “elsewhere in the region” means from outside the State of New 
York? 
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A.21:  Yes. 
 
Q.22:  RFP Section 3.2C.5 seeks inclusion of “Evaluation of optimal taxation rates and 

license fees” as part of the analysis.   
 

Will the contractor be provided with parameters for “optimal”, as such term 
differs with respect to maximizing capital investment versus maximizing current 
tax receipts for the State? 
 

A.22:  With respect to this and other similar issues, the State will work closely 
with the Successful Bidder to clarify and identify precise language.  

 
Q.23:  RFP Section 3.2D seeks inclusion on “The impact an Orange County-based VLT 

facility will have on existing gaming facilities and State revenues, and the impact 
of such facility in the analysis conducted.”  

 
Will the contractor be provided specifics on the VLTs to be permitted in Orange 
County? 
 

A.23:  Yes. 
 
Q.24: RFP Section 3.2E.2 seeks inclusion of “The impact of a change in taxation rates 

for video lottery and commercial casino games and activities, including … 
Recommendations on modification of tax and commission rates under various 
scenarios”.  

 
Can you identify what is meant by “commission rates”?  Is this the commission 
paid to agents of the New York Lottery (i.e., racetrack video gaming operators)?  
Or does it include other commission payments to other entities? and, if so, can 
you please define? 

 
A.24:  The Commission Rate is the portion of Net Win paid to the video lottery 

gaming facility operator as compensation for operating the facility. 
 

Q.25: RFP Section 3.2E.4 utilizes the term “promotional credit level”.  Can you please 
define this term? 

 
A.25:  The Commission hereby amends the RFP to delete Section 3.2E.4 in its 

entirety. 
 

Q.26:  RFP Section 3.2E.4 seeks an analysis of “The impact of a change in taxation 
rates for video lottery and commercial casino games and activities, including … 
An assessment and determination of the optimal promotional credit level to 
maximize education gaming revenue”.  
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Will contractor be provided with additional clarification on optimal promotional 
credit level to maximize education gaming revenue.  Is this in reference to how 
promotional credits (free play) is accounted for from a gaming tax perspective? 

 
A.26:  The Commission hereby amends the RFP to delete Section 3.2E.4 in its 

entirety. 
 
Q.27: RFP Section 3.2F.1 seeks “Suggestions for the sustainability and growth of each 

gaming market segment, insularly and as to the maximization of state revenue, 
including … Size and scope necessary to achieve full potential at Jake’s 58, and 
analyze the negative impact of such development on Resorts World New York 
City 

 
In terms of full potential at Jake’s 58, are there limitations that should be 
considered in terms of number of gaming positions that would be permitted in 
context of “full potential”?  

 
A.27: The RFP inquiry suggests that the Successful Bidder not consider 

existing statutory operational limitations. 
 
Q.28: RFP Section 3.2F.2 seeks “Suggestions for the sustainability and growth of each 

gaming market segment, insularly and as to the maximization of state revenue, 
including … The effects of a continued Seneca Nation of Indians exclusivity on 
video lottery gaming facilities within that area, as well as the potential impacts 
on such video lottery gaming facilities if there was a cessation of exclusivity. 

 
Will the Commission provide detailed performance data for the Seneca’s 
operational and is there a corresponding impact on gaming taxes if the 
exclusivity is abandoned in terms of Compact payments to the State? 

 
A.28: The Commission maintains limited historic financial data relative to 

Seneca property performance. The RFP inquiry seeks an analysis of the 
impact on regional video lottery gaming facilities and commercial 
casinos in the event of permanent exclusivity payment cessation. 

 
Q.29: RFP Section 3.2F.4 seeks Suggestions for the sustainability and growth of each 

gaming market segment, insularly and as to the maximization of state revenue, 
including … The long-term sustainability of Batavia Downs, Buffalo Raceway and 
Vernon Downs. 

 
In terms of sustainability of Batavia, Buffalo and Vernon other than gaming 
revenues does NYSGC have access to other financial records or would contractor 
be requesting directly from the operator. 
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A.29:  The RFP inquiry seeks suggestions relative to the sustainability of the 

video lottery gaming operations, not the racing operations. 
 
Q.30:  RFP Section 3.2G.3 seeks “Analysis of the potential market for other gaming and 

the impacts of each on the existing gaming markets, including … “online sports 
wagering, lottery and video poker.”  

 
Does this mean to include online casino gaming as well?  What is contemplated 
by “video poker”? 

 
A.30:  No, it is not meant to include online casino gaming.  The video poker 

contemplated is limited to that capable of being authorized under the 
existing State Constitutional limitations, e.g., skill-based and not a 
casino-type slot poker. 

 
Q.31:  RFP Section 3.2G.2 seeks “Analysis of the potential market for other gaming and 

the impacts of each on the existing gaming markets, including … Sports 
wagering expanded to video lottery gaming facilities and off-track betting 
facilities”.  

 
Is there a defined number of VLT gaming facilities and OTB that would be 
permitted to accept sports wagering? 
 

A.31:  The RFP is hereby amended at Section 3.2G.2 to read: 
 

Sports wagering expanded to video lottery gaming facilities, off-
track betting facilities, licensed or franchised pari-mutuel 
wagering facilities and professional sports stadiums and arenas; 
and 
 
For the purposes of this analysis, the Success Bidder should 
consider the video lottery gaming facilities authorized under 
current law and those off-track betting corporations that are 
presently operating. 

 
Q.32:  RFP Section 3.2A.2 seeks “An analysis of the performance of commercial casinos, 

video lottery gaming facilities, the state lottery for education, and Native 
American gaming facilities, including … Actual performance vs. market potential, 
and if applicable, reasons for deviation”.  

 
Will we have access to projections made in applications to the State for gaming 
licenses several years ago, or the State's consultants at that time, in order to 
gauge the degree to which facilities are not meeting their potential, or is this 
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exercise only going to be based on our own modeling of what the market 
potential should be (relative to what is being attained)? 

 
A.32:  The Commission will make available material maintained regarding the 

submissions to and analysis by the Gaming Facility Location Board, 
however, the analysis should be based on the Successful Bidder’s 
modeling. 

 
Q.33:  RFP Section 3.2H seeks “Analysis of the current distribution of pari-mutuel horse 

racing revenue, including the sustainability of the Off-Track Betting corporations; 
and recommended modifications to the distribution schedules. 

 
What information will be provided to contractor in terms of the OTB corporations 
so that the scope is clearly defined? 
 

A.33:  The Commission will make available material maintained by its 
Division of Horse Racing and Pari-Mutuel Wagering. 

 
Q.34: RFP Section 3.2H.2 requires “recommended modifications to the distribution 

schedules.”   
 

Does this item refer strictly to the distribution of pari-mutuel revenue from all 
sources or is there a concern about the product distribution (such as locations, 
OTBs (exclusive of H part 1. Analysis), NYRA bets, other ADWs (advance deposit 
wagering outlets), simulcast outlets and other forms of distribution of the 
product.) 

 
A.34: The term “distribution schedules” references the statutory distribution 

of pari-mutuel revenue.  See generally, N.Y. Racing, Pari-Mutuel 
Wagering and Breeding Law. 

 
Q.35: RFP Section 3.2E seeks an analysis of the impact of a change in taxation rates 

for video lottery and commercial casino games and activities, including an 
assessment of the impacts of rate equalization for video lottery, gaming, 
commercial casino gaming and Indian gaming activities; recommendations on 
modification of tax and commission rates under various scenarios; an analysis of 
how a change in tax rates would affect the competitive dynamics of the existing 
VLTs/casinos and tax revenues for the state; and an assessment and 
determination of the optimal promotional credit level to maximize education 
gaming revenue.  RFP Section 3.2H seeks “Analysis of the current distribution of 
pari-mutuel horse racing revenue, including the sustainability of the Off-Track 
Betting corporations; and recommended modifications to the distribution 
schedules.   
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Is the Successful Bidder to consider changes to the current allocations of New 
York Lottery video game revenue to racetracks, purses, and New York’s 
Thoroughbred and Standardbred breeding funds?  Specifically, is the analysis to 
include what existing racetracks, purse structures, and Thoroughbred and 
Standardbred breeding funds and the agri-business breeding farms throughout 
New York State would look like if current New York Lottery video gaming 
revenue were reduced or ended entirely? 

 
A.35:  To the extent commission rates are considered for change under RFP 

Section 3.2E, any analysis should reflect the downstream impact of 
such proposed change.  By implication, a downward change in the 
video lottery gaming agent compensation has the potential to impact 
those revenues shared. The reference in RFP Section 3.2H regards the 
existing statutory distribution of pari-mutuel revenue.   

 
Q.36: RFP Section 3.2I seeks an analysis of the effect of modification of live racing 

requirements for pari-mutuel facilities, including evaluation of impacts on purses 
and awards and the likely effects on the breeding industries. 

 
is this only referring to the requirements for the number of live race days and 
races?  If not, what other modifications of live racing requirements for pari-
mutuel facilities should be examined when evaluating the impacts on purses and 
awards and effects on the breeding industries? 

 
A.36: Yes, the inquiry seeks the impact of a reduction in the number of live 

race days and races conducted. 
 
Q.37:  RFP Section 3.2I seeks an analysis of the effect of modification of live racing 

requirements for pari-mutuel facilities, including evaluation of impacts on purses 
and awards and the likely effects on the breeding industries. 

 
Are modification to the live-racing requirements defined (i.e. reduction in # of 
live races, and is this specific to applicable locations). 

 
A.37:  For specific requirements, see generally N.Y. Racing, Pari-Mutuel 

Wagering and Breeding Law. Otherwise, race dates and races 
conducted are usually through agreement of the racetrack and its 
representative horsemen.  Annual Reports of the Commission or its 
predecessor agency, the N.Y.S. Racing & Wagering Board, should 
contain usable statistical information. 

 
Q.38:  Will data that is available such as that found in the Annual Reports, Weekly 

Racing Reports etc. be in digital form to import into Excel or other software? 
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A.38: The Commission will work with the Successful Bidder to provide data in 
the best usable format available. 

 
Q.39: The latest Annual Report on the Commission website is 2017.  Will 2018 be 

available? Weekly Racing Reports are only through April 2018 on the Commission 
website, is that data available for all of 2018 and part of 2019? 

 
A.39:  The Commission’s Annual Report for 2018 will be annexed to our 

public website shortly. The Commission continues to maintain weekly 
racing data and will make such available to the Successful Bidder.  

 
Q.40: The 2017 Annual Report includes the OTB Statements of revenue and 

expenses.   Are the complete Profit & Loss and more detailed information 
available for the analysis regarding sustainability of OTBs. 

 
A.40:  The Commission will make available material maintained by its 

Division of Horse Racing and Pari-Mutuel Wagering. 
 
Q.41:  RFP Section 3.2H seeks “Analysis of the current distribution of pari-mutuel horse 

racing revenue, including the sustainability of the Off-Track Betting corporations; 
and recommended modifications to the distribution schedules.  RFP Section I 
seeks an analysis of the effect of modification of live racing requirements for 
pari-mutuel facilities, including evaluation of impacts on purses and awards and 
the likely effects on the breeding industries. 

 
Should any specific Commission goals be considered in the analysis and 
recommendations? 

 
A.41:  The Commission has no specific goals to be considered other than the 

continued viability of the racing and breeding industries. 
 
Q.42:  RFP Section 3.2A.3 seeks “An analysis of the performance of commercial casinos, 

video lottery gaming facilities, the state lottery for education, and Native 
American gaming facilities, including … Total economic impact of the industry 
including an analysis of the economic impact of the Act”.  

 
Is this item meant to be a full retrospective analysis on all the casino 
development that has occurred since enacting the Upstate New York Gaming 
Economic Development Act? If so, to what extent can we expect these casinos to 
cooperate with data requests? 

 
A.42:  Yes. Access to relevant data is dependent on each licensed or 

franchised facility.   
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Q.43: RFP Section 3.2C.1 seeks an analysis of “The economic, fiscal, and social 
implications of the awarding of up to three (3) additional commercial casino 
licenses, including an understanding of the size and scope of the potential 
market, including economic, social and fiscal implications.  RFP Section 3.2D 
seeks an analysis of the impact an Orange County-based VLT facility will have on 
existing gaming facilities and State revenues, and the impact of such facility. 

 
Does this item mean “economic impacts” by “economic implications?” In other 
words, should we expect to do a full economic impact analysis of each of the 
three additional casinos mentioned in RFP Section 3.2D and the Orange County 
VLT facility in mentioned in RFP Section 3.2D? 

 
A.43:  A full economic impact analysis is sought. 
 
Q.44: For the economic impacts, is a state-level analysis sufficient? If not, ideally how 

should the state be divided? 
 
A.44: Ideally, it should be divided among: 1. the five boroughs of the City of 

New York; 2. Long Island; 3. other counties served by the Metropolitan 
Transportation Authority (Dutchess, Orange, Putnam, Rockland, and 
Westchester); and, 4. the balance of the State.  

 
### 
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SDVOB Waiver Form – SDVOB 200 (9/16)  
 

APPLICATION FOR WAIVER OF SDVOB PARTICIPATION GOAL  
(must be submitted before requesting final payment on the Contract) 
Section 1: Basic Information 
Contractor’s Name: 

      

Federal Identification Number: 

      
Street Address: 

      

E-Mail Address: 

      
City, State, Zip Code: 

      

Telephone: 

(     )        -       

Contract Number:   

      

SDVOB CONTRACT GOALS 
     % 
 

Section 2:   Type of SDVOB Waiver Requested 

 Total  Partial  If partial waiver, please enter the revised SDVOB 
percentage:      % 

Please explain the reason for the waiver request: 

      

Section 3:   Supporting Documentation 
 

Provide the following documentation  as evidence of your good faith efforts to meet the SDVOB goals set forth in the contract and in support of your 
waiver application: 

 Attachment A.  Copies of solicitations to SDVOBs and any responses thereto.  
 Attachment B.  Explanation of the specific reasons each SDVOB that responded to Bidders/Contractors’ solicitation was not selected. 
 Attachment C.  Dates of any pre-bid, pre-award or other meetings attended by Contractor, if any, scheduled by the New York State 

Gaming Commission (the “Commission”) with certified SDVOBs whom the Commission  determined were capable of fulfilling the SDVOB 
goals set forth in the contract. 

 Attachment D.  Information describing the specific steps undertaken to reasonably structure the contract scope of work for the purpose of 
subcontracting with, or obtaining supplies from, certified SDVOBs. 

 Attachment E.  Other information deemed relevant to the request.   

Section 4:   Signature and Contact Information 
By signing and submitting this form, the contractor certifies that a good faith effort has been made to promote SDVOB participation 
pursuant to the SDVOB requirements set forth under the solicitation or Contract.  Failure to submit complete and accurate information 
may result in a finding of noncompliance, non-responsibility, and a suspension or termination of the contract.   
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Prepared By: (Signature) Date: 

      
Name and Title of Preparer (Print or Type) 

      
  



SDVOB Waiver form – SDVOB 200 (9/16)Reverse  
 

For Commission Use Only 
Reviewed By: 

      

Date: 

      

Decision: 
 

     Full SDVOB waiver granted 
     Partial SDVOB waiver granted; revised SDVOB goal:  _______ % 
     SDVOB waiver denied 

 

Approved By: 

      

Date: 

      

Date Notice of Determination Sent: 

      
 
Comments 
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